THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No.: 2011-CP-10-00387
Appellate Case No. 2016-001140

RECEIVED

NOV 07 2016

SC Court of Appeals

PCS Nitrogen, Inc.,.....Appellant,

vs.

Continental Casualty Company, Admiral Insurance Company,
United States Fire Insurance Company, ACE Property & Casualty
Insurance Company, Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's London, the
Aviva Companies, the Winterthur Companies, Certain London
Market Insurance Companies, Providence Washington Insurance
Company (as Successor in Interest by way of Merger to Seaton

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred in holding, in contravention of South Carolina Supreme Court precedent, that the assignment of coverage rights for an occurrence-based liability insurance policy is barred even where the assignment occurs after the policy term ends?

2. In the alternative, whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Respondents on the question of whether CNC Corporation (and, therefore, PCS Nitrogen, Inc.) is the successor to Columbia Nitrogen Corporation, where the trial court's decision was predicated on a view of the law that is contrary to controlling precedent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant PCS Nitrogen, Inc. ("PCS") is being held liable as the alleged successor to Columbia Nitrogen Corporation ("Old CNC") for certain of Old CNC's Superfund liabilities. In this insurance coverage action PCS is seeking coverage from Respondents, which are all insurance companies that issued general liability policies to Old CNC that cover the period between 1966 and 1984. *See generally* AppRec31 (complaint). The issue in dispute on appeal is whether PCS is the successor to Old CNC's coverage rights. PCS contends that those coverage rights transferred from Old CNC to CNC Corp. ("New CNC") to PCS. All parties agree that if New CNC was the valid successor to Old CNC's coverage rights, then those rights would have validly transferred from New CNC to PCS. Because Old CNC's coverage rights transferred to New CNC via a valid post-loss assignment PCS is entitled to those coverage rights.

I. Underlying Environmental Matter.

The coverage claim arises out of a lawsuit brought by Ashley II of Charleston, LLC ("Ashley") against PCS in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina. *See Ashley II of Charleston, LLC v. PCS Nitrogen, Inc.*, Case No. 2:05-cv-02782 (D.S.C.) ("Ashley Litigation"). In that suit, Ashley sought a declaratory judgment that PCS was jointly

and severally liable for response costs associated with a Superfund Site located in Charleston, South Carolina (the "Ashley Site") pursuant to the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(4)(B). *See generally PCS Nitrogen Inc. v. Ashley II of Charleston LLC*, 714 F.3d 161 (4th Cir. 2013).

There was no allegation that PCS itself ever owned or operated a facility at the Ashley Site. There was no allegation that PCS ever sent waste to the Ashley Site. Nor was there any other allegation that PCS's own conduct was the basis of PCS's alleged liability in the Ashley Litigation. Rather, Ashley alleged that PCS was jointly and severally liable for the remediation of the Ashley Site solely due to the conduct of Old CNC.

The trial court in the Ashley Litigation found that beginning in 1966 Old CNC operated a fertilizer production plant and an acid plant at the Ashley Site. *See generally PCS Nitrogen*, 714 F.3d at 169. Old CNC ceased operation of the acid plant in 1970 and ceased operation of the fertilizer plant in 1972. *Id.* By January 1981, Old CNC had demolished all remaining structures at the Ashley Site. *Id.* It sold the property to a third party in May 1985. *Id.* In 1986, more than a year after Old CNC sold the Ashley Site, Old CNC's parent corporations determined to cease operations of Old CNC entirely. *Id.* at 169-70. Accordingly, Old CNC's parents sold the Old CNC business to CNC Corp. ("New CNC") via a series of agreements – including a November 3, 1986 Assignment of Insurance Benefits, pursuant to which all of Old CNC's insurance rights, benefits, and proceeds were assigned to New CNC – leading up to the closing date on November 6, 1986. *Id.* at 170. Immediately upon closing of the acquisition, New CNC changed its name to "Columbia Nitrogen Corporation" – the same name under which Old CNC operated – and Old CNC initiated the process of final liquidation and dissolution. *Id.* By virtue of a series of mergers and acquisitions, PCS Nitrogen, Inc., acquired New CNC. *Id.*

Following a bench trial, the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina held that PCS is jointly and severally liable for the remediation of the Ashley Site. *See generally Ashley II of Charleston, LLC v. PCS Nitrogen, Inc.*, 791 F. Supp. 2d 431 (D.S.C. 2011). The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit affirmed the district court's judgment. *See PCS Nitrogen*, 714 F.3d 161.

II. PCS Seeks Insurance Coverage From Respondents.

Respondents issued general liability policies to Old CNC covering the period from 1966 to 1984. *See* AppRec73-183, 586-603, 798-813, 825-866, 880-976, 991-1293, 1303-1439, 1451-1489, 1506-1803, 1823-2196. (policies). Each of these policies provided coverage for the defense and indemnification of Old CNC's liabilities due to property damage caused by an occurrence during the policies' respective coverage periods. *Id.* Upon acquiring information related to Old CNC's insurance program, PCS tendered an insurance claims to Respondents seeking defense and indemnification for PCS's costs related to the Ashley Litigation and related CERCLA liabilities.

Respondents refused to provide coverage to PCS for the Ashley Litigation. Accordingly, on January 18, 2011, PCS commenced this action against Respondents in the Court of Common Pleas of the County of Charleston. AppRec31(complaint).

On July 24, 2015, Respondent Continental Casualty Company filed a motion for summary judgment on the issue of whether PCS was the successor to Old CNC's coverage rights, which was joined by the other Respondents. AppRec43 (motion). No party disputed that PCS is the successor-by-merger to New CNC. The sole dispute was whether New CNC succeeded to the coverage rights of Old CNC. PCS opposed the motion for summary judgment. AppRec2197 (opposition).

On March 23, 2016, the circuit court granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment and adopted Respondent Continental Casualty Company's proposed order, nearly verbatim, as the opinion of the court. AppRec2 (order); AppRec2400 (proposed order). PCS timely moved for reconsideration of the circuit court's order, arguing that in adopting Continental Casualty Company's proposed order the circuit court committed manifest error of law in that the order was internally inconsistent, contrary to the decisions of the South Carolina Supreme Court, and contrary to the prevailing law governing the corporate successor issues. AppRec2437 (reconsideration motion). The circuit court denied PCS's motion for reconsideration on May 5, 2016. AppRec29 (order). PCS received that order on May 11, 2016, and filed its timely notice of appeal on May 26, 2016.

ARGUMENTS

To support their position before the circuit court, Respondents relied on arguments that are contrary to South Carolina Supreme Court precedent, the overwhelming legal consensus, and South Carolina's public policy. In adopting Respondents' proposed opinion on summary judgment, the circuit court incorporated these significant errors into the opinion of the court and committed reversible error on two issues. First, it erred in holding that the assignment of Old CNC's coverage rights to New CNC was invalid. That PCS is entitled to coverage for these liabilities as a result of a post-loss assignment is supported by South Carolina Supreme Court precedent and the nearly unanimous conclusion of those jurisdictions that have considered the issue. Second, the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment on the de facto merger issue. In ruling on this issue at summary judgment, the circuit court mistakenly reversed the legal test for finding a de facto merger. For these reasons, which will be addressed in further detail below, reversal is warranted.

I. The Standard Of Review Is De Novo.

When the circuit court grants summary judgment on a question of law, the Court of Appeals reviews the circuit court's ruling de novo. *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. Clear View Constr.*, 776 S.E.2d 426, 429 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015). A summary judgment ruling will only be upheld where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Southeast Toyota Distribs., LLC v. Jim Hudson Superstore, Inc.*, 693 S.E.2d 33, 35 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010). "Insurance policies are subject to the general rules of contract construction." *Bennett & Bennett Constr., Inc. v. Auto Owners Ins. Co.*, 747 S.E.2d 426, 427 (S.C. 2013) (citing *B.L.G. Enters., Inc. v. First Financial Ins. Co.*, 514 S.E.2d 327, 330 (1999)). The construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a matter of law for the court. *Lee v. Univ. of S.C.*, 757 S.E.2d 394, 397-98 (S.C. 2014) (reversing decision of the trial court). Accordingly, the circuit court's interpretation of an insurance policy is not entitled to any deference by the Court of Appeals. *Bennett*, 747 S.E.2d at 427.

II. Old CNC's Coverage Rights Validly Transferred Via A Post-Loss Assignment.

On November 3, 1986, Old CNC and New CNC entered into an agreement titled, "Assignment of Insurance Benefits," whereby Old CNC agreed to transfer to New CNC all of its "rights, proceeds and other benefits to and under all of [Old CNC's] insurance policies." AppRec2233 (Assignment of Insurance Benefits). In adopting Respondents' proposed opinion, the circuit court held that this assignment was barred by the anti-assignment clauses contained in Respondents' policies or, alternatively, that the agreement did not actually assign coverage rights. This was error.

Respondents issued occurrence-based general liability insurance policies to Old CNC covering Old CNC's liabilities for property damage caused during the policies' respective coverage periods. PCS is being held liable, as the alleged successor to Old CNC, for property

damage alleged to have been caused by Old CNC during the coverage periods. As such, PCS seeks the very coverage for which Respondents accepted premiums: coverage for Old CNC's liabilities for property damage caused during the policies' respective coverage periods. Such transfers of coverage rights after a policy period ends, are widely held to be valid notwithstanding an anti-assignment clause because the transfers have no impact on the risk borne by the insurer. *See Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd.*, 745 S.E.2d 90, 94 (S.C. 2013). Here, the Assignment of Insurance Benefits was executed years after each of Respondents' policies expired. As such, the assignment did not affect the insurers' risk. Rather, the assignment simply had the effect of ensuring that Respondents paid the claims they already agreed to cover.

The circuit court's contrary decision resulted in multiple reversible errors. **First**, the circuit court ruled that Old CNC did not assign its coverage rights to New CNC. AppRec13 (order). Yet, the record shows that Old CNC transferred to New CNC "all of [Old CNC's] rights, proceeds and other benefits to and under all of [Old CNC's] insurance policies." AppRec2233 (Assignment). **Second**, the circuit court relied on *Ligon v. Metropolitan Life* for the proposition that insurance policies are personal to the insured and cannot be assigned without insurer consent. AppRec14 (order). In fact, that case stands for the proposition that insurance policies *can* be assigned without the insurer's consent. **Third**, the circuit court relied on the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in *Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd.*, for the proposition that the sole exception to the rule against policy assignment (which it erroneously stated as noted above) was that only assignments of a "judgment or settlement" are valid. AppRec17 (order). Nothing in *Narruhn* supports this conclusion. To the contrary, *Narruhn* acknowledges the widely held rule that after the end of the policy term the assignment of an occurrence-based liability insurance policy is valid because such a post-loss assignment does not increase the

insurer's risk. *Fourth*, the circuit court held that even if the duty to indemnify could be assigned, the duty to defend cannot be. AppRec17 n.3 (order). The authority on which the circuit court relied, however, does not address this question in any way and the relevant authority consistently upholds such assignments. *Fifth*, the court's decision violates South Carolina's public policy.

A. Old CNC Unambiguously Transferred Its Coverage Rights.

The contract by which Old CNC transferred its coverage rights to New CNC is explicit and unambiguous. Titled, "Assignment of Insurance Benefits," the contract provides that Old CNC agreed to transfer to New CNC all of its "rights, proceeds and other benefits to and under all of [Old CNC's] insurance policies." AppRec2233 (Assignment of Insurance Benefits). The agreement further states that it was entered "for the purpose of transferring to and vesting in [New CNC] all of [Old CNC's] rights and benefits, including proceeds, in and under its insurance policies" and that Old CNC "agreed to sell, convey, transfer, and assign . . . all of [Old CNC's] rights, proceeds and other benefits to and under all of [Old CNC's] insurance policies." *Id.* Notwithstanding this unambiguous language, the circuit court adopted Respondents' assertion that the document titled, "Assignment of Insurance Benefits," did not assign any insurance rights or benefits to New CNC. Instead, the circuit court held that the parties only intended to transfer "then-owing proceeds." AppRec14 (order). Because no then-owing proceeds existed, the circuit court concluded, nothing was assigned. *Id.*

There is nothing in the Assignment of Insurance Benefits that in any way limits the assignment to "then-owing proceeds." Indeed, if proceeds were the only rights being transferred, there would have been no need for the contract to separately identify the transferred assets as "all of" Old CNC's "*rights, proceeds and other benefits*" under its insurance policies. AppRec2233 (emphasis added). The circuit court's interpretation improperly renders the terms "rights" and "other benefits" meaningless. Such an interpretation is contrary to the South Carolina rules of

construction and must be rejected. *Stevens Aviation, Inc. v. DynCorp Int'l LLC*, 756 S.E.2d 148, 153 (S.C. 2014) (“[A]n interpretation that gives meaning to all parts of the contract is preferable to one which renders provisions in the contract meaningless or superfluous.” (citation omitted)).

In addition to being contrary to the rules of construction, Respondents’ interpretation, adopted by the circuit court, is belied by reason. The circuit court held that nothing was assigned in the agreement. Corporations do not, however, enter assignment agreements for the purpose of assigning nothing. The only sensible interpretation is that the agreement means what it says, and that it transfers “all of Seller’s rights and benefits, including proceeds, in and under its insurance policies.” AppRec2233 (Assignment of Insurance Benefits).

The transfer of “all of Seller’s rights and benefits” necessarily included Old CNC’s contingent future rights, such as the contingent right to assert claims for defense and indemnity for liabilities arising from past losses. Contrary to the circuit court’s order, a “conditional right may be subject to assignment,” including the contingent right to “future performance,” even before the condition occurs. *Moore v. Weinberg*, 644 S.E.2d 740, 746 (S.C. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 320; 4 A. Corbin, Corbin on Contracts § 874 (1951)). *Illinois Tool Works*, cited by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Narruhn* for the proposition that insurance coverage rights are assignable, directly addressed this issue, holding that the contingent right to defense and indemnification, “should a third-party suit based on that loss arise,” was freely assignable in equity:

What Binks assigned plaintiff was Binks’ then-present conditional right to the insurance proceeds, to its right to defense and indemnification should a third-party suit based on that loss arise. A valid assignment of a conditional right is enforceable in equity. Binks’ conditional right to defense and indemnification against third-party suit for covered occurrences existed as soon as it paid its premium. This right was not dependent on whether or when the insurers’ duty to defend a particular suit was triggered, i.e.,

dependent on whether a third party actually filed suit against Binks for a covered occurrence. Filing of a third-party suit impacted whether Binks would need to assert its right to defense and indemnification, not whether that right existed.

Ill. Tool Works v. Commerce & Indus. Ins. Co., 962 N.E.2d 1042, 1055-56 (Ill. App. Ct. 2011) (citations omitted).

In short, the “Assignment of Insurance Benefits,” was just that: an assignment of insurance benefits. Interpreting this agreement as transferring nothing, as the circuit court did, is contrary to the unambiguous text of the agreement and contrary to South Carolina law.

B. Anti-Assignment Clauses Do Not Apply To Post-Loss Assignments.

The circuit court went on to hold that, even if Old CNC did agree to transfer its coverage rights to New CNC, said transfer would be invalid because “insurance contracts are personal to the insured, and therefore the insured may not assign the policy to third parties without insurer consent.” AppRec14 (order). This is incorrect. The circuit court relied on *Ligon v. Metropolitan Life* for this proposition; however, in *Ligon* the South Carolina Supreme Court *refused to enforce a restriction on the assignment of an insurance policy*, holding that “such a restriction in the insurance policy is not intended to cover a case where the loss has already occurred.” *Ligon v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 64 S.E.2d 258, 264 (S.C. 1951).

In fact, “contract rights are freely assignable today, unlike in medieval times.” *Osprey, Inc. v. Cabana Ltd. P’shp.*, 532 S.E.2d 269, 277 (S.C. 2000). “While the general rule regards liability and indemnity policies as nonassignable personal contracts, assignment is valid following occurrence of the loss insured against and is then regarded as chose in action rather than transfer of actual policy.” 3 Couch on Ins. § 34:25 (West 2015). The South Carolina Supreme Court in *Narruhn v. Alea London*, 745 S.E.2d 90 (S.C. 2013), similarly explained that

“it is generally held that an assignment [of insurance coverage rights] *after* a loss has already occurred does not require an insurer’s consent.” *Id.* at 94 (emphasis in original).

“As a general principle, a clause restricting assignment [in an insurance policy] does not in any way limit the policyholder’s power to make an assignment of the rights under the policy after a loss has occurred. It is now a vested claim against the insurer and can be freely assigned or sold like any other chose in action or piece of property.” *Id.* (quoting 17 Williston on Contracts § 49:126 (4th ed. 2000)). This is because “[t]he purpose of a no assignment clause is to protect the insurer from increased liability, and after events giving rise to the insurer’s liability have occurred, the insurer’s risk cannot be increased by a change in the insured’s identity.” *Id.* (quoting 3 Couch on Ins. § 35:8 (2011 Rev. Ed.); collecting cases). Thus, where an assignment does not increase the risk to the insurer, an anti-assignment clause will not prevent the policyholder from transferring his coverage rights to a successor entity. *Id.* (collecting cases).

The rule is illustrated by an example. A driver with a perfect driving record could not transfer his active automobile liability insurance policy to his neighbor who has multiple drunk driving convictions. This is because the actuarial risk that the neighbor will incur liability is greater than that of the original policyholder, and the insurer would have demanded higher premiums before issuing a policy to the neighbor to account for that greater risk.

After the policy period is over, however, the risk is fixed. Transferring an automobile liability policy that only covers liability arising from accidents that occurred during the coverage period cannot create any additional risk to the insurer after the policy period has run, whatever the character of the assignee. Any liability covered by the policy would have been caused by the conduct of the original policyholder – the party whose risk the insurer agreed to cover. As such, a transfer of the policy to the neighbor after the policy period runs would not be barred by an

anti-assignment clause because the transfer would simply result in the liabilities caused by the original insured being reimbursed to a different party. It is, in effect, nothing more than a transfer of the right to collect payment rather than a change in the risk being insured.

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