THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001140

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
C.A. No. 11-CP-10-387  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

NOV 07 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

PCS Nitrogen, Inc. ....Appellant,

v.

Continental Casualty Company, Admiral Insurance  
Company, United States Fire Insurance Company, ACE  
Property & Casualty Insurance Company, Certain  
Underwriters at Lloyd's London, the Aviva Companies, the  
Winterthur Companies, Certain London Market Insurance  
Companies, Providence Washington Insurance Company  
(as Successor in Interest by way of Merger to Seaton

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

---

<sup>19</sup> *Ocean Accident* also relied on *Ross v. American Empl. Liab. Ins. Co.*, 56 N.J. Eq. 41, 38 A. 22 (Ct. Ch. 1897), but that case addressed what priority, in equity, to give competing claims made by insureds against an insolvent insurer's remaining assets and did not involve assignability at all. *Id.* at 42, 38 A. at 22. In addition, the policy language interpreted in *Ross* was completely different from the policy language at issue here. In *Ross*, the insuring agreement covered damages "with which the insured may be *legally charged*." *Id.* (emphasis added). By contrast, Continental's (and other insurers') policies here apply to sums that the insured "shall become legally obligated to pay." See p. 24 above. The distinction is critical, because the court in *Ross* interpreted the "legally charged" language as attaching the insurer's obligation at the time of the accident, since the insured could be "legally charged" with liability then, with a judgment being "a mere judicial ascertainment of the intrinsic character of the occurrence which determined the liability of the insured." 56 N.J. Eq. at 44, 38 A. at 23. Later New Jersey cases recognize, however, that the language in the policies at issue here—"sums the insured shall become legally obligated to pay"—requires that liability be fixed by a judgment or settlement before the insurer has a payment obligation. *Nakonieczny v. Commonwealth Cas. Co.*, 111 N.J.L. 137, 142-43, 167 A. 213, 215 (Sup. Ct. 1933) (policy promising "to pay all sums which the assured shall become liable to pay" "entitled the assured to sue the insurer after a final judgment had been recovered against him on a claim covered by the policy"); *Viddish v. Hartford Acc. and Indem. Co.*, 41 N.J. Super. 221, 225, 124 A.2d 607, 609 (App. Div. 1956) (same). Thus *Ross* and *Ocean Accident* provide no support for concluding that an insurer's payment obligation is fixed at the time of an underlying accident under the policy language at issue here, or that policy rights are assignable then.

new corporate entity that assumes some of the insured's tort liability—precisely what happened here—remains good law. *Henkel*, 29 Cal. 4th at 941-43, 62 P.3d at 73-74.<sup>20</sup>

*Fluor* also cited many non-California cases, but as shown here these cases either permitted assignment of actual choses in action (not full policies) or failed to adhere to the law of the state they purported to apply (particularly *Ocean Accident*). Also, in conducting its analysis of the California statute, the decision made a critical mistake: It misread the New York precedents upon which the California statute was predicated as not requiring a judgment *against the insurer* to permit assignment of *an accrued right to payment*. 61 Cal. 4th at 1205, 354 P.3d at 320-21. The question of whether the insured had a judgment against the insurer was irrelevant in those cases: since they involved first-party fire insurance, not third-party liability insurance, they had no need to discuss a “judgment” at all. Rather, the issue was whether the insurer had a payment obligation, and in the first-party context such a payment obligation arises upon the happening of covered property damage or other casualty—the insurer's payment obligation arises then whether or not the insured later obtains a judgment to enforce it. Thus, the court's reliance on those cases as not requiring a “judgment” to allow assignment misread what they stood for. By contrast, a third-party liability insurer's payment obligation does not arise until a tort claimant obtains *an underlying judgment against the insured*, as the court's own precedents establish. *Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London v. Superior Court (Powerine I)*, 24 Cal. 4th 945, 958, 16 P.3d 94, 102 (2001) (“the duty to indemnify can arise only after damages are fixed in their amount”); *Javorek v. Superior Court (Larson)*, 17 Cal. 3d 629, 641, 552 P.2d 728, 737-

---

<sup>20</sup> PCS cites *B.S.B. Diversified Co. v. American Motorists Ins. Co.*, 947 F. Supp. 1476 (W.D. Wash. 1996), but that court was obliged to follow the Ninth Circuit's decision in *Northern Ins. Co. v. Allied Mut. Ins. Co.*, 955 F.2d 1353 (9th Cir. 1992), which purported to apply Washington and California law. But *Northern Insurance's* “by operation of law” theory was rejected by the Supreme Court of California in *Henkel*, and that aspect of *Henkel* was not overturned by *Fluor*. *B.S.B.* therefore provides no authority.

38 (1976) (“The insurer has no duty to pay until the insured becomes ‘legally obligated to pay as damages’ a sum of money. In other words, State Farm has no liability to pay until defendants’ liability has been determined. If it is determined that they have no liability, the insurer’s liability never accrues.”). To the extent *Fluor* holds otherwise, it contravenes South Carolina law. *Park*, 251 S.C. at 413, 162 S.E.2d at 710.<sup>21</sup>

Another case cited by PCS actually rejects assignment of insurance policies “by operation of law.” *Pilkington N. Am., Inc. v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 112 Ohio St. 3d 482, 490-93, 861 N.E.2d 121, 129-30 (2006). *Pilkington* also did *not* hold that that the duty to defend could be assigned at all, failing to reach a majority on that issue. *Id.* at 483, 861 N.E.2d at 123.<sup>22</sup>

In sum, all of the cases upon which PCS relies either permitted only assignment of a chose in action (not assignment of policies to a new insured), failed to adhere to the state law they interpreted, or are inconsistent with South Carolina law. They provide no authority for a rule of “free assignment of policies” that PCS seeks.

---

<sup>21</sup> For this reason, *Egger* is also distinguishable. It rested its holding on the conclusion that the insurer’s payment obligation could arise before a judgment against the insured in the underlying case. 588 Pa. at 298-99, 903 A.2d at 1225-26. But *Park* holds that a liability insurer’s payment obligation does *not* accrue until the insured is held liable in a judgment. *Park*, 251 S.C. at 413, 162 S.E.2d at 710. *Egger* therefore is at odds with South Carolina law.

<sup>22</sup> The opinion in *Pilkington* demonstrated remarkable division among the justices, with no answer to the certified questions posed receiving more than four (out of seven) votes. The split in the opinion may be summarized as follows: Three justices would have followed *Henkel* and hold that insurance rights are contractual and cannot be transferred by operation of law, and that they cannot be assigned without consent of the insurers, either, as they are not a chose in action for money due. At the other end of the spectrum, two justices would have rejected *Henkel* and allowed liability insurance rights to “follow the liability” whether or not they have matured into a chose in action. And in the middle, two justices would have held that the right to indemnity, but not defense, is a chose in action that is assignable by the insured once the “covered loss” occurs; but if liability is assumed by contract, insurance does not convey by operation of law.

#### 4. The Duty to Defend May Never Be Assigned

Given the consistent holding of South Carolina courts, and of courts elsewhere, that an insured can assign only a right to insurance money already due and owing, as a chose in action, *a fortiori* an insured cannot assign its right to have the insurer defend it in a tort action, because the insurer's duty cannot be reduced to a sum of money. *Javorek v. Superior Court (Larson)*, 17 Cal. 3d 629, 644-45, 552 P.2d 728, 740 (1976) (duty to defend is "an obligation to provide personal services [and] is not capable of transfer") (citation omitted); *Robinson v. Shearer & Sons, Inc.*, 429 F.2d 83, 86 (3d Cir. 1970) (same); *Hart v. Cote*, 145 N.J. Super. 420, 425-26, 367 A.2d 1219, 1222 (Law Div. 1976) (following *Javorek*; declining to permit attachment of insurer's potential defense obligation as a "debt" because "the obligation would not arise in law until a judgment has been entered against the insured"). PCS's effort to argue to the contrary relies exclusively on the out-of-state decisions refuted above.

In *Javorek*, the California Supreme Court extensively analyzed when the duty to defend arises and held that it does not arise at the time of the underlying accident or before any underlying suit is filed. "Prior to the commencement of the underlying action, there was a mere executory promise to defend which might never have ripened into a present duty had the action never been filed." 17 Cal. 3d at 644, 552 P.2d at 239-40. Moreover, the court noted, the duty to defend could never ripen into a transferable debt:

Under the terms of the policy, State Farm is obligated only to provide a defense with attorneys of its own choosing. There is no obligation to pay money to the insureds so that they may provide their own defense. Such an obligation to provide personal services is not capable of transfer so as to satisfy the claims of an attaching creditor. If it is assumed that the obligation to defend could be translated into a monetary equivalent, how is that to be done? "What . . . is the value of this duty to a potential purchaser at execution sale? Because the insurance carrier could not be obligated to defend a stranger to the contract by such a sale, we cannot conceive what there is to be sold. Rather, we are convinced that whatever value inheres in the contractual duty of the insurer is personal to the insured."

*Id.* at 644-45, 552 P.2d at 780 (quoting *Robinson*, 429 F.2d at 86) (citations omitted). Thus, the court rejected both the notion that the duty to defend could be transferred to a stranger and the notion that it could be converted into a transferable debt or chose in action. The insurer cannot be compelled to defend a stranger, and as a result there is nothing that can be transferred or sold.

*Javorek, Robinson* and *Hart* cannot be distinguished on the ground that they did not involve assignment. Each involved an attempt to *attach* an insurer's duty to defend, as if it were "property" of the insured, which the plaintiff sought to use to obtain *quasi in rem* jurisdiction over the defendant in a plaintiff-friendly jurisdiction with which the defendant otherwise had no contacts.<sup>23</sup> *Javorek, Robinson* and *Hart* reject that theory on the ground that the duty to defend is not "property" of the insured that can be *involuntarily* transferred by attachment. By the same token, the duty to defend is not "property" of the insured that can be *voluntarily* transferred by assignment.

##### **5. PCS Seeks to Force a Novation, Which South Carolina Law Forbids**

At its root, PCS's theory of "assignment" does not involve assignment of contract rights at all, but depends on a wholly distinct premise, which is substituting the original party to a contract with a new one, such that the new party can claim all rights, and has all obligations, of the old party. PCS's true theory thus seeks a novation of the Respondents' policies, substituting itself for Old CNC for all purposes. "[N]ovation is the substitution *by mutual agreement*, of one debtor, or one creditor, for another whereby the old debt is extinguished. . . ." *Greenwood Cotton Mills v. Pace*, 172 S.C. 531, 539, 174 S.E. 473, 476 (1934) (emphasis original). *See also Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 218, 644 S.E.2d 740, 744 (Ct. App. 2007) (same).

---

<sup>23</sup> That theory, which had been accepted by some states, was ruled unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court in *Rush v. Savchuk*, 444 U.S. 320 (1980), as it deprived defendants and their insurers of due process.

Yet South Carolina law is crystal clear that substituting contract parties by novation cannot be done without the consent of the original parties to the contract. “There can be no novation unless both parties so intend.” *Adams v. B&D, Inc.*, 297 S.C. 416, 419, 377 S.E.2d 315, 317 (1989). “ ‘Novation exists only by reason of an agreement and in the absence of such an agreement there can be no novation. . . . The sole intention of the obligor that the existing contract should be discharged by the new agreement is not sufficient; the creditor must concur in this.’ ” *Greenwood*, 172 S.C. at 540, 174 S.E. at 476 (quoting 46 C.J. Novation at 573-74) (emphasis original). *See also Moore*, 373 S.C. at 218, 644 S.E.2d at 744 (“There can be no novation unless both parties so intend.”).

The trial court noted that what PCS really sought was novation, and that “an attempt by one party to force a novation on the other party to a contract will excuse the latter.” R. p. 22 n.5.<sup>24</sup> PCS raises no argument to challenge the trial court’s conclusion, and it is thereby law of the case. *Stephens v. CSX Transp. Inc.*, 415 S.C. 182, 201, 781 S.E.2d 534, 544 (2015) (unappealed grounds of trial court decision become law of the case); *Proctor v. Whitlark & Whitlark, Inc.*, 415 S.C. 318, 333, 778 S.E.2d 888, 896 (2015) (unappealed grounds become law of the case, requiring affirmance). Indeed, PCS cannot raise any argument on this score because the facts are undisputed and the law is clear: PCS seeks to substitute itself as a party to the insurance policies here, a novation that cannot occur “unless both parties so intend,” which they did not. For this reason alone, the judgment should be affirmed.

---

<sup>24</sup> Attempting to assume the *duties*, as well as obtain the rights, of one party to a contract is not “assignment” at all, as the duties under a contract can never be assigned away without the consent of the party to whom they are owed. *Segars v. Segars*, 279 S.C. 564, 569, 310 S.E.2d 156, 158 (Ct. App. 1983). “Novation is the word appropriate for such a changed relation, and an attempt by one party to force a novation on the other party to a contract will excuse the latter.” 29 Williston on Contracts § 74:37 at 466.

## 6. PCS's Appeal to Public Policy Has No Merit

Lacking any factual or legal argument in its favor, PCS resorts to an appeal to public policy, by which it seeks to nullify all of the law laid out above. PCS made no such argument to the trial court and did not preserve it for appeal; it therefore should not be considered.<sup>25</sup> *Buist v. Buist*, 410 S.C. 569, 574, 766 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2014) (“It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved.”) (citation omitted).<sup>26</sup>

Even if PCS's public policy arguments were considered, however, they have no merit. The public policy of South Carolina favors the enforcement of contracts as written; it prohibits courts from rewriting contracts. “Parties to a contract have the right to construct their own contract without interference from courts to rewrite or torture the meaning of the policy to extend coverage.” *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). *Schulmeyer* rejected the insured's appeal to “public policy” as a means to rewrite an insurance policy: “Rather, this Court is required to give effect to the plain meaning of the words in an unambiguous contract.” *Id.* at 497, 579 S.E.2d at 134. As the Supreme Court said: “[T]his Court has held that it would violate public policy to allow a court to insert a [contractual] limitation where none existed,” as it “would add a term to the contract that the parties neither negotiated nor agreed to,” and “such an extension ‘would essentially re-write the parties’ contract, a service the courts of South Carolina do not perform.’ ” *Poynter Investments, Inc. v.*

---

<sup>25</sup> Although PCS did make a “windfall” argument based on the insurers’ receipt of premiums (different from its current “windfall” argument), it did not raise a “public policy” argument, including any argument that granting the insurers’ motion would impair cleanup efforts or result in a restraint on trade.

<sup>26</sup> In contrast, an appellate court has discretion to address any additional sustaining grounds for the judgment, shown by the record, raised by the respondent. *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

*Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 587-88, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17-18 (2010) (citation omitted). Rewriting the policies is what PCS seeks here, to strike in its entirety the contractual provision prohibiting assignment of interest under the policies without the consent of the insurer. Far from requiring that outcome, public policy in fact prohibits it.

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